HIGHWAY HOLDINGS LTD Form F-3 August 16, 2010

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 16, 2010

Registration No. 333-

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

# FORM F-3 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Highway Holdings Limited (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

British Virgin Islands (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) NA (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

Suite 810, Level 8, Landmark North 39 Lung Sum Avenue Sheung Shui New Territories, Hong Kong (852) 2344-4248

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Po Fong
Chief Financial Officer
Suite 810, Level 8, Landmark North
39 Lung Sum Avenue
Sheung Shui
New Territories, Hong Kong
telephone: (852) 2344-4248
fax: (852) 2343-4976
po.fong@highwayholdings.com

(Name, address, and telephone number of agent for service)

With a copy to:
Istvan Benko, Esq.
Alison Pear, Esq.
TroyGould PC
1801 Century Park East
Suite 1600
Los Angeles, California 90067

Telephone: (310) 553-4441 Facsimile: (310) 789-1426

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time, as determined by the registrant, after this registration statement becomes effective.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box. x

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering."

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. "

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.C. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.C. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

#### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

		Proposed	
	Amount to	maximum	
	be	aggregate	Amount of
Title of each class of	registered	offering	registration
securities to be registered	(1)	price (1)	fee (2)
Common Shares, \$0.01 par value per share (3)			
Debt securities(4)			
Warrants to purchase Common Shares			
Warrants to purchase debt securities			
Units			
Total		\$10,000,000.00	\$713.00

- (1) The securities registered by this registration statement may be sold separately, together with other securities registered or as units consisting of a combination of securities registered hereunder. As permitted by Rule 457(o) under the Securities Act of 1933 and General Instruction II.C to Form F-3 under the Securities Act of 1933, the number of securities of each class of securities registered hereunder is not specified. There is being registered hereunder an indeterminate amount of Common Shares, debt securities, warrants to purchase Common Shares or debt securities and units of the registrant as may from time to time be issued at indeterminate prices. The maximum offering price for each class of securities will be determined from time to time by the registrant in connection with the issuance of the securities registered by this registration statement. In no event, however, will the maximum aggregate offering price of all securities issued under this registration statement exceed \$10,000,000 or such lesser aggregate amount permitted under General Instruction I.B.5 to Form F-3 under the Securities Act of 1933. With respect to debt securities, the proposed maximum aggregate offering price excludes accrued interest.
- (2) The registration fee has been calculated in accordance with Rule 457(o) of the Securities Act of 1933.
- (3) Includes Common Shares that may be issued in primary offerings, upon the conversion of convertible debt securities registered by this registration statement, upon the exercise of warrants registered by this registration statement and in conjunction with units registered by this registration statement.
- (4) Includes debt securities that may be issued in primary offerings, upon conversion of another series of debt securities registered by this registration statement, upon the exercise of warrants registered by this registration statement and in conjunction with units registered by this registration statement.
- (5) Pursuant to Rule 416 under the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement also registers such indeterminate amounts of securities as may be issued upon conversion of, or in exchange for, the securities registered hereunder and such indeterminate number of Common Shares as may be issued from time to time upon conversion or exchange as a result of stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions.

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities, and it is not a solicitation of any offer to buy these securities, in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2010

Highway Holdings Limited

\$10,000,000

Common Shares
Debt Securities
Warrants to Purchase Common Shares
Warrants to Purchase Debt Securities
Units

We may, from time to time, offer and sell up to \$10,000,000 in the aggregate of:

**Prospectus** 

- our Common Shares, par value \$0.01 per share;
- our secured or unsecured debt securities, in one or more series, which may be either senior, senior subordinated or subordinated debt securities;
  - warrants to purchase our Common Shares;
  - warrants to purchase our debt securities; and
  - any combination of the securities listed above, separately or as units.

We will provide the specific terms of these securities, including the price and the type and amount of securities to be offered and sold, in a supplement to this prospectus. You should read this prospectus and the prospectus supplement carefully before you invest.

We may offer and sell these securities directly to purchasers or through one or more underwriters, dealers and agents, and on a continuous or delayed basis. If we sell securities through underwriters, dealers or agents, we will include their names and the fees, commissions and discounts that they will receive, as well as the net proceeds to us, in the prospectus supplement. This prospectus may not be used to sell our securities unless accompanied by the prospectus supplement. The delivery of this prospectus together with a prospectus supplement relating to the offered securities shall not constitute an offer of any other securities covered by this prospectus.

Investing in our securities involves risks. See "Risk Factors" on page 2 of this prospectus and in the applicable prospectus supplement for a discussion of the risks that you should consider before you invest in our securities.

Our Common Shares are traded on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "HIHO." As of the date of this prospectus, none of the other securities that we may offer by this prospectus is listed on a national securities exchange or quoted on an automated quotation system. On August 13, 2010, the closing price for our Common Shares on The NASDAQ Capital Market was \$1.90 per share. As of August 13, 2010, the aggregate market value of our outstanding Common Shares held by non-affiliates, or our "public float," was approximately \$3,721,231, which was calculated based on 1,958,543 outstanding Common Shares held by non-affiliates and on a closing price per Common Share of \$1.90 on August 13, 2010. We have not sold any securities pursuant to General Instruction I.B.5 of Form F-3 during the 12 calendar months prior to and including the date of this prospectus. After the date of this prospectus, we will not sell in primary offerings under General Instruction I.B.5 of Form F-3 securities having an aggregate market value, when added to the aggregate market value of securities sold by us in primary offerings under General Instruction I.B.5 of Form F-3 during the 12 calendar months immediately prior to and including the date of sale, of more than one-third of our public float.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission or other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is	s, 2010
--------------------------------	---------

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS	1
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	1
THE COMPANY	2
RISK FACTORS	2
OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE	2
CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS	3
USE OF PROCEEDS	3
INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL	3
MARKETS	3
OFFER AND LISTING DETAILS	4
THE SECURITIES THAT WE MAY OFFER	4
DESCRIPTION OF COMMON SHARES	5
DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES	6
DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS	9
DESCRIPTION OF UNITS	10
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	11
DILUTION	13
EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION	13
SHARE CAPITAL	13
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	14
LEGAL MATTERS	14
EXPERTS	14
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	14
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE	15
FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF LIABILITIES	15
i	

#### ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or "SEC," utilizing a "shelf" registration process. Under this shelf process, we may sell different types of the securities described in this prospectus in one or more offerings up to a total offering amount of \$10,000,000.

The rules and regulations of the SEC allow us to omit from this prospectus certain information that is included in the registration statement. For further information about us and our securities, you should review the registration statement and the exhibits filed with the registration statement. In addition, the SEC allows us to incorporate by reference into this prospectus information in the reports and other documents that we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those reports and other documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, and information that we later file with the SEC will automatically update and, where applicable, modify or supersede that information. You may read the registration statement (including its exhibits) and the reports and other documents that we file with the SEC at the SEC's website, www.sec.gov, or at the SEC's Public Reference Room described below under the heading "Where You Can Find More Information."

This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities we may offer. Each time we offer securities under this shelf registration, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that offering. The prospectus supplement may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. You should read both this prospectus and the prospectus supplement together with the additional information described under the heading "Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference." To the extent that any information in the prospectus supplement is inconsistent with the information in this prospectus, the information in the prospectus supplement will modify or supersede this prospectus.

This prospectus and the related prospectus supplement do not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than the registered securities to which they relate, nor do this prospectus and the prospectus supplement constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy securities in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus and the prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date subsequent to the date set forth on the front of the document or that any information we have incorporated by reference is correct as of any date subsequent to the date of the document incorporated by reference, even though this prospectus and the prospectus supplement is delivered or securities are sold on a later date.

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus, in the prospectus supplement and in any document incorporated by reference into this prospectus. We have not authorized any salesperson, dealer or other person to provide you with information different from that contained in this prospectus, in the prospectus supplement or in any document incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and you are not entitled to rely upon any such different information.

References in this prospectus to "Highway Holdings," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Highway Holdings Limite and our subsidiaries.

#### SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the documents incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking statements, and we anticipate that the related prospectus supplement will contain forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events or to our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results to be materially different from any future results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of words such as

"believe," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "estimate," "may," "could," "anticipate," "predict," or "expect" and similar expression should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements since they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that are, in many cases, beyond our control. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. Actual events or results may differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. We do not undertake any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.

Factors that may cause actual events or results to differ from those discussed in the forward-looking statements include, without limitation, the availability of labor and the infrastructure we need for our operations, increases in costs of our raw materials, the effects of rapid technological changes and vigorous competition in the markets in which we operate, changes in competition and the pricing environment, general economic and business conditions, changes in technology affecting our manufacturing operations, fluctuations in currency exchange rates and other risks of operating internationally, and new governmental regulations, as well as the other risks described in the documents referred to above under "Risk Factors."

#### THE COMPANY

Highway Holdings Limited is a holding company that was organized on July 20, 1990 as a limited liability International Business Company under the laws of the British Virgin Islands. We are primarily a fully integrated manufacturer of high quality metal, plastic, electric and electronic components, subassemblies and finished products for major Japanese, German and United States original equipment manufacturers and contract manufacturers. We currently operate through five controlled subsidiaries: Hi-Lite Camera Company Limited; Kayser Limited; Nissin Precision Metal Manufacturing Limited; Golden Bright Plastic Manufacturing Company Limited; and Kayser Wuxi Precision Metal Manufacturing Limited.

All of our manufacturing activities currently are conducted at two locations in China. Our principal and oldest factory complex is located in Long Hua, Shenzhen, China. Our Kayser (Wuxi) Metal Precision Manufacturing Limited subsidiary in Wuxi, China, manufactures metal tools and parts for the internal Chinese market.

Our corporate administrative matters in the British Virgin Islands are conducted through our registered agent: HWR Services Limited, P.O. Box 71, Craigmuir Chambers, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands. Our administrative offices for our subsidiaries are located in Hong Kong at Suite No. 810, Level 8, Landmark North, Sheung Shui, New Territories, Hong Kong and our telephone number there is (852) 2344-4248.

#### RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves risks. Before you decide whether to purchase any of our securities, in addition to the other information in this prospectus and the related prospectus supplement, you should carefully consider the risks described under the heading "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, which is incorporated by reference into this prospectus, as the same may be updated from time to time by our future filings with the SEC. You should also carefully consider any additional risks that are described in the prospectus supplement related to the offering of our securities. If one or more of these risks materializes, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected. In that event, the value of our securities could decline.

#### OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

We may offer Common Shares, debt securities, warrants to purchase Common Shares or debt securities and units consisting of a combination of any of these securities in one or more offerings up to a total offering amount of \$10,000,000, provided that we will not sell in primary offerings under General Instruction I.B.5 of Form F-3 securities having an aggregate market value, when added to the aggregate market value of securities sold by us in primary offerings under General Instruction I.B.5 of Form F-3 during the 12 calendar months immediately prior to and including the date of sale, of more than one-third of our public float. The securities offered under this prospectus may be offered separately, together, or in separate series, and in amounts, at prices and on terms to be determined at the time of sale. Our Common Shares, debt securities, warrants and units that we may offer collectively referred to in this prospectus as the "securities."

#### CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

The following table sets forth, as of June 30, 2010, our capitalization and indebtedness (unaudited) on an actual basis. You should read this table in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended March 31, 2010, which is incorporated by reference herein.

	As of June 30, 2010 (in thousands, except share and per share data) Hong Kong	
	US\$	\$(1)
DEBT:	0.54	4(1)
Total Debt	-	-
EQUITY:		
Common Shares, \$.01 par: Authorized – 20,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding		
3,741,874	37	288
Additional paid in capital	11,243	87,471
Retained Profits	505	3,929
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(13)	(101)
Total Highway Holdings shareholders' equity	11,772	91,587
Noncontrolling interest	(64)	(498)
Total Equity	11,708	91,088
Total Capitalization	11 708	91 088

(1) Amounts in Hong Kong dollars have been translated into United States dollars ("US\$") at the applicable rate of US\$1.00 = 7.78 Hong Kong dollar as quoted by Bloomberg Finance L.P. as of June 30, 2010. No representation is made that the Hong Kong dollar amounts could have been, or could be, converted into US\$ at that rate, or at all.

#### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

Unless otherwise indicated in an accompanying prospectus supplement, the net proceeds from the sale of the securities offered hereby will be used for general corporate purposes, which may include working capital, capital expenditures, development costs, strategic investments and possible acquisitions. We have not allocated any portion of the net proceeds for any particular use at this time. The net proceeds may be invested temporarily until they are used for their stated purpose. Specific information concerning the use of proceeds from the sale of any securities will be included in the prospectus supplement relating to such securities.

#### INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

No named expert of or counselor to us was employed on a contingent basis, or owns an amount of our Common Shares (or shares of our subsidiaries) that is material to that person, or has a material, direct or indirect economic interest in us or that depends of the success of the offering.

#### **MARKETS**

Our Common Shares are traded on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol "HIHO" and are not listed for trading in any trading market outside the United States. On August 13, 2010, the last reported sale price of our Common Shares on The NASDAQ Capital Market was \$1.90 per share. As of August 13, 2010, there were 46

holders of record of our Common Shares. However, we believe that there are a significantly greater number of "street name" shareholders of the Common Shares.

If we issue securities pursuant to this prospectus we may seek listing of the additional issued Common Shares, or Common Shares underlying the other securities that may be offered under this prospectus, or such other securities themselves on The NASDAQ Capital Market. Such determination will be made by our Board of Directors at the time of offering. There is no assurance that approval for any such listing would be granted.

### OFFER AND LISTING DETAILS

The offering price of the securities covered by this prospectus and the exercise price of our warrants or conversion price of any convertible debt securities, as the case may be, will be established by our Board of Directors at the time we make an offering pursuant to this prospectus. We will provide these specific terms of these securities, including the price and the type and amount of securities to be offered and sold, in a supplement to this prospectus.

The high and low closing sale prices of our Common Shares as reported by The NASDAQ Capital Market during the first quarter of the current fiscal year (the first quarter ended June 30, 2010) was \$3.26 and \$1.75, respectively.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing sale prices of our Common Shares as reported by The NASDAQ Capital Market during each of the most recent six months.

Month Ended	High	Low
July 31, 2010	\$ 1.99	\$ 1.80
June 30, 2010	\$ 2.41	\$ 1.75
May 31, 2010	\$ 2.51	\$ 2.20
April 30, 2010	\$ 3.26	\$ 2.39
March 31, 2010	\$ 2.51	\$ 2.20
February 28, 2010	\$ 2.88	\$ 1.82

Information regarding the historical price of our Common Shares is provided under the heading "Offer and Listing Details" in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, which is incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

The securities covered by this prospectus have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and, accordingly, the certificates on instruments evidencing these securities will not bear a legend and will not be subject to restrictions on transferability. A description of the securities that may be issued pursuant to this prospectus is contained below in this prospectus.

# THE SECURITIES THAT WE MAY OFFER

We, directly or through underwriters, dealers or agents designated by us from time to time, may offer and sell, together or separately:

- our Common Shares, par value \$0.01 per share;
- our secured or unsecured debt securities, in one or more series, which may be either senior, senior subordinated or subordinated debt securities;
  - warrants to purchase our Common Shares;
  - warrants to purchase our debt securities; and
  - any combination of the securities listed above, separately or as units.

We have summarized below the material terms of the various types of securities that we may offer. We will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement the detailed terms of the securities offered by that supplement. If indicated in the prospectus supplement, the terms of the offered securities may differ from the terms summarized below.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF COMMON SHARES**

The following summary describes certain provisions of our Common Shares, but does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by the applicable provisions of the law of the British Virgin Islands or our Memorandum and Articles of Association. The applicable prospectus supplement will describe, to the extent applicable:

- the number of Common Shares we are offering;
  - the purchase price per share;
- whether the Common Shares are or may be materially limited or qualified by the rights evidenced by any other class of securities or by the provisions of any contract or other document; and
  - any other material terms of the offering.

Our Articles of Association only authorize registered shares and no bearer shares are being offered. Our Articles of Association provide that our Common Shares may be transferred subject to the compliance, to the extent applicable, with the securities laws of the Unites States, the states thereof or any other jurisdiction. Additional restrictions on the free transferability of the Common Shares, if any, will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Our authorized share capital is \$200,000 divided into 20,000,000 Common Shares with par value of \$0.01 each. As of August 13, 2010, there were 3,741,874 Common Shares, outstanding, all of which were fully paid. Our outstanding capital is described in greater detail under "Share Capital" on page 14 of this prospectus.

Holders of our Common Shares are entitled to one vote for each whole share on all matters to be voted upon by members, including the election of directors. Holders of our Common Shares do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. All of our Common Shares are equal to each other with respect to liquidation and dividend rights. Holders of our Common Shares are entitled to receive dividends if and when declared by our Board of Directors out of surplus in accordance with British Virgin Islands law. In the event of our liquidation, all assets available for distribution to the holders of our Common Shares are distributable among them according to their respective holdings. Holders of our Common Shares have no preemptive rights to purchase any additional, unissued Common Shares.

Our authorized and unissued Common Shares are at the disposal of our Board of Directors, who may offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of shares to such persons, at such times and upon such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may determine, without additional shareholder approval.

We may purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire and hold our own shares out of surplus or in exchange for newly issued shares of equal value. However, no purchase, redemption or other acquisition shall be made unless, immediately after the purchase, redemption or other acquisition we will be able to satisfy our liabilities as they become due in the ordinary course of business, and we will not be insolvent.

Further information regarding our Memorandum and Articles of Association, which govern the rights of the holders of our Common Shares, is included under the heading "Memorandum and Articles of Association" in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended March 31, 2010, which is incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

### Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Common Shares is Computershare, and can be contacted by telephone at (818) 254-3166.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES**

This prospectus describes in general terms the debt securities that we may offer pursuant to this prospectus. When we offer a particular series of debt securities, we will describe the specific terms of the series in a supplement to this prospectus. The terms of any debt securities we may offer under a prospectus supplement may differ from the terms described below.

The debt securities offered by this prospectus and the prospectus supplement will be issued under an indenture between us and a trustee. We have filed a copy of the form of indenture as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, and you should read the indenture for provisions that may be important to you.

The prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities being offered will describe the initial offering price, the aggregate principal amount and the following terms of the debt securities, to the extent applicable:

- the title of the debt securities:
- the price or prices at which we will sell the debt securities;
- the date or dates on which we will pay the principal on the debt securities;
- the rate or rates (which may be fixed or variable) per annum or the method used to determine the rate or rates at which the debt securities will bear interest, the date or dates from which interest will accrue, the date or dates on which interest will commence and be payable and any regular record date for the interest payable on any interest payment date;
  - the place or places where the principal of, premium, and interest on the debt securities will be payable;
    - the terms upon which we may redeem the debt securities;
    - the terms of any subordination of the debt securities to other indebtedness;
      - any restrictions on the transfer of the debt securities;
- any obligation we have to redeem or purchase the debt securities pursuant to any sinking fund or analogous provisions or at the option of a holder of debt securities;
  - whether the debt securities will be secured or unsecured and the terms of any secured debt securities;
  - whether the debt securities are convertible into other securities and the terms of any conversion rights;
- with respect to debt securities convertible into other securities, the terms of any adjustments in the debt conversion price and the number of securities issuable upon the conversion of the debt securities to be made in certain events;

- the name of the indenture trustee and the percentage of outstanding debt securities necessary to require the trustee to take action:
- any restrictions imposed by the debt securities on our ability to pay dividends, to incur other indebtedness, to issue other securities or to engage in other business activities, and any requirement for us to maintain any asset ratio or reserves;
  - the denominations in which the debt securities will be issued;
  - whether the debt securities will be issued in the form of certificated debt securities or global debt securities;
- the portion of the principal amount of the debt securities payable upon declaration of acceleration of the maturity date, if other than the principal amount;
- the designation of the currency, currencies or currency units in which payment of principal of, premium and interest on the debt securities will be made;
- if payments of principal of, premium or interest on the debt securities will be made in one or more currencies or currency units other than that or those in which the debt securities are denominated, the manner in which the exchange rate with respect to these payments will be determined;
- the manner in which the amounts of payment of principal of, premium or interest on the debt securities will be determined, if these amounts may be determined by reference to an index based on a currency or currencies other than that in which the debt securities are denominated or designated to be payable or by reference to a commodity, commodity index, stock exchange index or financial index;
  - the events of default with respect to the debt securities;
  - the material United States income tax consequences applicable to the debt securities;
- whether the debt securities are to be offered at a price such that they will be deemed to be offered at an "original issue discount" as defined in Section 1273(a) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986;
  - whether we or the trustee may amend the indenture without the consent of the holders of the debt securities;
- any other terms of the debt securities which may modify or delete any provision of the indenture as it applies to that series:
- any depositaries, interest rate calculation agents, exchange rate calculation agents or other agents with respect to the debt securities; and
  - a summary of other material terms of the indenture.

#### **Global Securities**

Certain series of the debt securities may be issued as permanent global debt securities to be deposited with a depositary with respect to that series. Unless otherwise indicated in the prospectus supplement, the following is a summary of the depository arrangements applicable to debt securities issued in permanent global form and for which The Depositary Trust Company ("DTC") acts as depositary.

Each global debt security will be deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC, as depositary, or its nominee and registered in the name of a nominee of DTC. Except under the limited circumstances described below, global debt securities are not exchangeable for definitive certificated debt securities.

Ownership of beneficial interests in a global debt security is limited to institutions that have accounts with DTC or its nominee, which we refer to as "participants" or persons that may hold interests through participants. In addition, ownership of beneficial interests by participants in a global debt security will be evidenced only by, and the transfer of that ownership interest will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee for a global debt security. Ownership of beneficial interests in a global debt security by persons that hold through participants will be evidenced only by, and the transfer of that ownership interest within that participant will be effected only through, records maintained by that participant. DTC has no knowledge of the actual beneficial owners of the debt securities. Beneficial owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but beneficial owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the participants through which the beneficial owners entered the transaction. The laws of some jurisdictions require that certain purchasers of securities take physical delivery of such securities in definitive form. Such laws may impair the ability to transfer beneficial interests in a global debt security.

Payment of principal of, and interest on, debt securities represented by a global debt security registered in the name of or held by DTC or its nominee will be made to DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, as the registered owner and holder of the global debt security representing those debt securities. We have been advised by DTC that upon receipt of any payment of principal of, or interest on, a global debt security, DTC will immediately credit accounts of participants on its book-entry registration and transfer system with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of that global debt security as shown in the records of DTC. Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in a global debt security held through those participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the sole responsibility of those participants, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements that may be in effect from time to time.

Neither we, any trustee nor any of our respective agents will be responsible for any aspect of the records of DTC, any nominee or any participant relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial interests in a permanent global debt security or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of the records of DTC, any nominee or any participant relating to such beneficial interests.

A global debt security is exchangeable for definitive debt securities registered in the name of, and a transfer of a global debt security may be registered to, any person other than DTC or its nominee, only if:

- DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for that global debt security or at any time DTC ceases to be registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
- we determine in our discretion that the global debt security shall be exchangeable for definitive debt securities in registered form; or
- there shall have occurred and be continuing an event of default or an event which, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute an event of default under the debt securities.

Any global debt security that is exchangeable pursuant to the preceding sentence will be exchangeable in whole for definitive debt securities in registered form, of like tenor and of an equal aggregate principal amount as the global debt security, in denominations specified in the applicable prospectus supplement (if other than \$1,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000). The definitive debt securities will be registered by the registrar in the name or names instructed by DTC. We expect that these instructions may be based upon directions received by DTC from its participants with

respect to ownership of beneficial interests in the global debt security.

Except as provided above, owners of the beneficial interests in a global debt security will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of debt securities in definitive form and will not be considered the holders of debt securities for any purpose under the indentures. No global debt security shall be exchangeable except for another global debt security of like denomination and tenor to be registered in the name of DTC or its nominee. Accordingly, each person owning a beneficial interest in a global debt security must rely on the procedures of DTC and, if that person is not a participant, on the procedures of the participant through which that person owns its interest, to exercise any rights of a holder under the global debt security or the indentures.

We understand that, under existing industry practices, in the event that we request any action of holders, or an owner of a beneficial interest in a global debt security desires to give or take any action that a holder is entitled to give or take under the debt securities or the indentures, DTC would authorize the participants holding the relevant beneficial interests to give or take that action, and those participants would authorize beneficial owners owning through those participants to give or take that action or would otherwise act upon the instructions of beneficial owners owning through them.

DTC has advised us that DTC is a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a "clearing agency" registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC was created to hold securities of its participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among its participants in those securities through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of the participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC's participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange, Inc. and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. Access to DTC's book-entry system is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the SEC.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS**

We may offer warrants to purchase our Common Shares as well as warrants to purchase our debt securities. If the warrants are issued pursuant to warrant agreements, we will so specify in the prospectus supplement relating to the warrants.

The following description will apply to the warrants offered by this prospectus unless we provide otherwise in the prospectus supplement. The prospectus supplement for a particular series of warrants may specify different or additional terms. The forms of any warrant certificates or warrant agreements evidencing the warrants that we issue will be filed with the SEC and incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and you should carefully review such documents.

The prospectus supplement will describe the following terms of warrants to purchase our Common Shares or debt securities, to the extent applicable:

- the title of the warrants;
- the price at which the warrants will be issued and the exercise price of the warrants;
  - the aggregate number of warrants offered;

- the number of our Common Shares or the principal amount of our debt securities that may be purchased upon the exercise of each warrant, as well as the terms of any such debt securities;
  - the terms of any right by us to redeem the warrants;
- the date on which the right to exercise the warrants will commence and the date on which this right will expire;
  - the procedures for exercising the warrants;
  - the terms on which the warrants may be amended;
- with respect to warrants to purchase shares of our Common Shares, the terms of any adjustments in the warrant exercise price and the number of shares of our Common Shares purchasable upon the exercise of each warrant to be made in certain events, including the issuance of a stock dividend to holders of our Common Shares or a stock split, reverse stock split, combination, subdivision or reclassification of our Common Shares;
- the effect on the warrants of our merger or consolidation with another entity or our sale of all or substantially all of our assets:
  - the maximum or minimum number of warrants which may be exercised at any time; and
  - the material United States income tax consequences applicable to the warrants and their exercise.

Holders of warrants to purchase shares of our Common Shares will not be entitled, by virtue of being such warrant holders, to vote, consent, receive dividends, receive notice as stockholders with respect to any meeting of stockholders for the election of our directors or any other matter, or to exercise any rights whatsoever as stockholders. Holders of warrants to purchase debt securities will not be entitled, by virtue of being such warrant holders, to payment of principal of or any premium, if any, or interest on the debt securities purchasable upon exercise of the warrants or any of the other rights of holders of the debt securities.

Warrants may be exercised at any time up to the close of business on the expiration date set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to the warrants offered thereby. After the close of business on the expiration date, unexercised warrants will become void. Upon our receipt of the exercise price of the warrants upon the due exercise of the warrants, we will, as soon as practicable, forward the securities purchasable upon exercise. If less than all of the warrants represented by such warrant certificate are exercised, a new warrant certificate will be issued for the remaining warrants.

We currently do not have any warrants to purchase Common Shares or debt securities outstanding.

# **DESCRIPTION OF UNITS**

We may offer units that consist of a combination of two or more of the other securities described in this prospectus. For example, we may elect to issue units for a specified price per unit, with each unit consisting of one of our Common Shares and one warrant to purchase one additional Common Share at a specified price. The holder of a unit also will hold each security that is included in the unit.

We have provided in the preceding sections of this prospectus a general description of our Common Shares and of the debt securities and warrants that we may offer. If we elect to offer units, we will describe the specific terms of the units in a supplement to this prospectus. Among other things, the prospectus supplement will describe, to the extent applicable:

- the price of each unit;
- the securities comprising each unit;
- the aggregate number of units offered;

- any transfer restrictions on the units, including whether the securities comprising the units may be transferred separately;
  - the terms on which the units, or debt securities or warrants forming part of the units, may be amended;
- with respect to any debt securities forming part of the units, the other matters listed above under "Description of Debt Securities";
- with respect to any warrants forming part of the units, the other matters listed above under "Description of Warrants"; and
  - the material United States income tax consequences applicable to the units.

#### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the securities through underwriters or dealers, agents, directly to one or more purchasers, or through a combination of these methods of sale. We will set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement:

- the terms of the offering of the securities;
- the names of any underwriters, dealers or agents involved in the sale of the securities;
  - the principal amount or number of securities any underwriters will subscribe for;
    - any delayed delivery arrangements;
- any applicable underwriting commissions or discounts or other items constituting underwriter's compensation, including the percentage such commissions represents of the total amount of the offering and the amount of discounts or commissions per share;
  - any initial public offering price;
  - any discounts or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers;
    - any commissions paid to agents; and
    - any securities exchange on which the securities may be listed.

The securities offered by us may be sold from time to time in one or more transactions at a fixed price or prices, which may be changed, market prices prevailing at the time of sale, prices related to the prevailing market prices, varying prices determined at the time of sale, or negotiated prices.

We may solicit directly offers to purchase the securities being offered by this prospectus. We may also designate agents to solicit offers to purchase the securities from time to time.

If we utilize one or more dealers in the sale of the securities being offered by this prospectus, we will sell the securities to the dealers, as principal. The dealers may then resell the securities to the public at varying prices to be determined by the dealers at the time of resale.

If we utilize one or more underwriters in the sale of the securities being offered by this prospectus, we may execute an underwriting agreement with the underwriters at the time of sale and we will provide the name of any underwriters in the prospectus supplement which the managing underwriters will use to make resales of the securities to the public. The underwriters may agree to purchase the securities from us either on a firm-commitment or best efforts basis. In connection with the sale of the securities, we, or the purchasers of securities for whom the underwriters may act as agents, may compensate the underwriters in the form of underwriting discounts or commissions. The underwriters may sell the securities to or through dealers, and the underwriters may compensate those dealers in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions.

With respect to underwritten public offerings, negotiated transactions and block trades, we will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement any compensation we pay to underwriters, dealers or agents in connection with the offering of the securities, and any discounts, concessions or commissions allowed by underwriters to participating dealers. Underwriters, dealers and agents participating in the distribution of the securities may be deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, and any discounts and commissions received by them and any profit realized by them on resale of the securities may be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions. We may enter into agreements to indemnify underwriters, dealers and agents against civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, or to contribute to payments they may be required to make in respect thereof.

If we grant warrants as compensation to a dealer, agent or underwriter in connection with any particular offering, the warrants issued as compensation will be substantially on the same terms as the warrants offered to investors in such offering, except that the warrants issued as compensation will comply with FINRA Rule 2710(g)(1) in that for a period of six months after the issuance date of those warrants (which shall not be earlier than the closing date of the offering pursuant to which the warrants issued as compensation are being issued), neither the warrants issued as compensation nor any warrant shares issued upon exercise of those warrants shall be sold, transferred, assigned, pledged, or hypothecated, or be the subject of any hedging, short sale, derivative, put, or call transaction that would result in the effective economic disposition of the securities by any person for a period of 180 days immediately following the date of effectiveness or commencement of sales of the offering pursuant to which the warrants issued as compensation are being issued, subject to certain exceptions.

To facilitate the offering of securities, certain persons participating in the offering may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the securities. These transactions may include over-allotments or short sales of the securities, which involve the sale by persons participating in the offering of more securities than we sold to them. In such circumstances, these persons would cover such over-allotments or short positions by making purchases in the open market or by exercising their over-allotment option. In addition, these persons may stabilize or maintain the price of the securities by bidding for or purchasing securities in the open market or by imposing penalty bids, whereby selling concessions allowed to dealers participating in the offering may be reclaimed if securities sold by them are repurchased in connection with stabilization transactions. The effect of these transactions may be to stabilize or maintain the market price of the securities at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. These transactions may be discontinued at any time.

The underwriters, dealers and agents may engage in other transactions with us, or perform other services for us, in the ordinary course of their business.

Unless otherwise set forth in any applicable prospectus supplements, there are no major shareholders, officers, directors or members of our management, supervisory or administrative bodies that intend to subscribe to the

securities covered hereby, there are no groups of targeted potential investors to whom the securities offered hereby will be made, and none of the securities covered hereby have been reserved for allocation to any group of targeted investors.

This prospectus does not cover the resale of securities by selling security holders.

#### **DILUTION**

The specific transaction or terms upon which securities covered by this prospectus may be issued is not known at this time. Each time we sell securities under this prospectus, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain certain specific information about the terms of that offering. In the event that there is substantial disparity between the public offering price of the securities to be issued and the effective cost to directors or senior management or affiliated persons of equity securities acquired by them during the last five years, or which they have the right to acquire, a comparison of the public contribution in the proposed public offering and the effective cash contributions of such persons, as well as the amount and percentage of immediate dilution resulting from the offering, will be contained in the prospectus supplement. We will also disclose the amount and percentage of immediate dilution resulting from the offering, computed as the difference between the offering price per share and the net book value per share for the equivalent class of security, as of the latest balance sheet date.

#### EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION

The following table sets forth the estimated costs and expenses payable by us in connection with the registration of the securities being registered hereunder, other than any underwriting discounts and commission and expenses reimbursed by us. All of the amounts shown are estimates, except for the SEC Registration Fee.

Description	Amount
SEC Registration Fee	\$ 713.00
Legal Fees and Expenses	\$ 15,500.00
Accounting Fees and Expenses	\$ 5,000.00
Printing and Filing Expenses	\$ 3,000.00
Transfer Agent and Registrar	\$ 1,000.00
Miscellaneous	\$ 1,000.00
TOTAL	\$ 26,213.00

#### SHARE CAPITAL

Our authorized capital consists of 20,000,000 Common Shares, \$0.01 par value per share. As of March 31, 2010 and August 13, 2010, there were 3,779,674 and 3,741,874 Common Shares, respectively, outstanding, all of which were fully paid. The number of shares outstanding as of August 13, 2010 decreased from the amount of shares outstanding as of March 31, 2010 as a result of the Company's retirement of 37,800 treasury shares in April 2010. Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this Registration Statement or in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, which is incorporated by reference into this prospectus, there have been no events in the last three years, which have changed the amount, the number of classes, or voting rights, of our issued capital.

The number of shares outstanding could increase by the shares issued upon the exercise of currently issued and outstanding options. We have adopted the 1996 Stock Option Plan that covered 600,000 Common Shares, and the 2010 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan that currently covers 600,000 Common Shares. We no longer grant shares under the 1996 Stock Option Plan. However, as of March 31, 2010, options granted under the 1996 Stock Option Plan to purchase a total of 197,500 Common Shares were still outstanding. Both stock option plans provide for the grant of options to purchase Common Shares to our employees, officers, directors and consultants. The 2010 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee appointed by our Board of Directors, which determines the terms of the options granted, including the exercise price, the number of Common Shares subject to the option and the option's exercisability. The weighted-average exercise price of all outstanding options to purchase our Common Shares on March 31, 2010 was \$3.32 per share.

As of the date of this prospectus, no debt securities or warrants were outstanding.

#### ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Information required by Item 10.B. through 10.I. of Form F-20 is included in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended March 31, 2010, which is incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

#### **LEGAL MATTERS**

Harney Westwood & Riegels will review the validity of the issuance of the securities sold pursuant to this prospectus and an opinion as to such validity, given on the authority of such firm as experts in the law of the British Virgin Islands, is included with the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. Harney Westwood & Riegels is located at Craigmuir Chambers, PO Box 71 Road Town, Tortola British Virgin Islands.

#### **EXPERTS**

The audited consolidated financial statements and financial schedule appearing for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 in our 2010 Annual Report on Form 20-F, and incorporated by reference in this prospectus, have been audited by AGCA, Inc., an independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in its report thereon. The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2009 and for each of the two years prior to the period ended March 31, 2009, incorporated in this prospectus by reference from the our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended March 31, 2010, have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements have been so incorporated in reliance upon such reports of such firms given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing. The offices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu are located at 35/F, One Pacific Place, 88 Queensway Admiralty, Hong Kong.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION